



# Disrupting the school-prison nexus in NSW

Inclusive and evidence-based alternatives

Dr Archie Thomas and Dr Samara Hand

October 2025

### **Contents**

Executive summary	5
Policy opportunities – at a glance	6
Background	7
Addressing the school-prison nexus: case studies	14
Australia: "making it work" to change the trajectory of justice-involved young people	15
Chicago, US: changing school discipline cultures	16
Scotland: keeping kids in school	17
Toronto, Canada: reinvesting in school safety	18
A policy agenda for NSW	19
Conclusion	23
Annex A: Methodology and participants	24

# **Acknowledgment of Country**

The Australian Public Policy Institute acknowledges the Gadigal people of the Eora Nation and the Ngunnawal people upon whose ancestral lands our Institute stands.

We pay respect to Elders both past and present, acknowledging them as the traditional custodians of knowledge for these lands. We celebrate the diversity of Aboriginal peoples and their ongoing cultures and connections to the lands and waters of NSW.

# About the APPI Policy Fellowship

The Australian Public Policy Institute (APPI) is a unique joint-venture between government and leading Australian universities. Launched in 2021 as a formal partner of the NSW Government, we work closely with government ministers, departments and other decision-makers to help address their most pressing policy priorities and enabling them to harness a wide range of expert advice. APPI is an independent, non-partisan charity.

This paper was made possible through an APPI Policy Fellowship. APPI Policy Fellows pursue independent and rigorous policy-relevant research with a strong potential to generate public value and impact, while being support by APPI to maximise policy impact.

### About the authors



**Dr Archie Thomas** is a non-Indigenous scholar and transgender man who has published widely on issues of diversity, discrimination and inclusion in education systems and media. He is a Chancellor's Senior Research Fellow in Social and Political Sciences at the University of Technology Sydney (UTS). He is the lead author of *Does the media fail Aboriginal political aspirations? 45 years of news media reporting of key political moments* (Aboriginal Studies Press, 2020) and *Yipirinya*: education for self-determination (forthcoming, 2026).



**Dr Samara Hand** is a Worimi/Biripi scholar and Lecturer at UNSW Law & Justice. She is a co-founder of the National Indigenous Youth Education Coalition, an Indigenous youth-led organisation committed to backing the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people in education. She was previously their Director of Research and Impact and has worked for the NSW Department of Education and the Aurora Education Foundation.

# Acknowledgements

Thank you to colleagues from the Australian Public Policy Institute, the University of Technology Sydney (UTS), University of New South Wales (UNSW), and the National Indigenous Youth Education Coalition (NIYEC) for sharing insights throughout the project.

Cover and Report Image credit: iStock

......

# Authorship

The findings and policy insights of any APPI publication are solely those of its authors, and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Institute, its Board, funders, advisers, or other partners.

This report is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0</u> <u>International License</u>.

For further information, contact: <a href="mailto:archie.thomas@uts.edu.au">archie.thomas@uts.edu.au</a>.

Recommended citation: Archie Thomas and Samara Hand, "Disrupting the school-prison nexus in NSW: inclusive and evidence-based alternatives," APPI Policy Insights Paper (2025)

### **Executive summary**

In New South Wales (NSW), government schools are suspending students in rising numbers. NSW schools suspended approximately 1 in 50 primary school students and 1 in 10 secondary school students in 2024. Over 100 students were expelled. School exclusion across Australia disproportionately impacts students from marginalised backgrounds. In 2024, 1 in 4 suspensions were of Aboriginal students and 1 in 4 of disabled students, making them approximately 2.5 times more likely to be suspended.

There is no evidence that school exclusion addresses student behaviour issues, according to a 2017 NSW Ombudsman inquiry.<sup>5</sup> Rather than a predictor of improved behaviour, suspension is a predictor of further exclusion. Despite this, exclusion is often presented as a behaviour change strategy for students. Concerningly, there is growing involvement of police in school discipline issues, potentially increasing interactions between vulnerable young people and the criminal justice system.<sup>6</sup>

**Indicators point to a "school-prison nexus" in NSW**, where excluded students are potentially much more likely to be criminalised and imprisoned, and to reenter the justice system as adults.<sup>7</sup> Data on NSW youth prisoners shows over half had been expelled from school, while data on the Australian adult prison population shows two-thirds had an education level of Year 10 or below.<sup>8</sup>

Schools and teachers require additional support and training to effectively address distress, disengagement and disruption. In the past decade, schools have been grappling with a student body experiencing significant challenges, including an ongoing teacher shortage. However, research shows low-level distressed, disengaged and disruptive behaviours are the most common and are most challenging for teachers to manage, rather than aggressive/violent behaviours. These are not addressed by exclusion.



There are alternatives to school exclusion that bring better long-term outcomes for schools, teachers and students.

There are alternatives to school exclusion that bring better long-term outcomes for schools, teachers and students. This paper showcases innovative work with justice-involved young people in NSW, policy transformation in Scotland, alternatives to police in schooling in Canada, and restorative justice models addressing disproportionate exclusion in Chicago, USA. Together, these demonstrate that resourcing school inclusion and developing collaborative policymaking models is not only possible, but can provide doable, cost-effective and just alternatives to school exclusion.

This paper identifies six policy opportunities for inclusive alternatives to school exclusion, including: reinvesting in inclusive models inside schools; developing a NSW school discipline policy and culture based on keeping all students in school; developing policies, culture and resources based on restorative and relational approaches; drawing on community expertise and knowledge in policy development and decision-making; identifying and supporting alternatives to policing and criminalisation; and improving data collection to strengthen accountability.

### Policy opportunities - at a glance

- Redirect resources from punitive measures to school-based support systems to better support teachers.
  - Reinvesting resources away from punishment and exclusion-centred models and into local and school-based models could provide long-term social and economic benefits. By targeting resourcing inside schools, teachers and schools can draw on more support and expertise in navigating distress, disengagement and disruption.
- Develop a NSW school discipline policy that prioritises keeping students in school.

Zero tolerance-style discipline and school exclusion disproportionately impact marginalised students and can set students up for social exclusion and criminalisation. A state-wide school discipline policy could be developed to centre inclusion and youth futures by supporting creative, bottom-up policies. This would aim to enable, empower, incentivise and resource schools and teachers to reduce exclusion.

- Implement restorative approaches in education legislation, policy, and practice.

  Models drawn from international best practice, including approaches and tools such as restorative justice, trauma-informed care, mutual accountability, and relationship-building, can provide a useful basis for NSW education policy. At the centre of these models, which are place-based and long-term, is a recognition of the contexts that create student distress, building trust and respectful relationships, and enshrining the responsibility of schools to keep students safe.
- Develop a collaborative policymaking framework and involve community in decision-making.

Rich expertise and insights of stakeholders, as well as local communities, can provide rich insights in which to develop collaborative policymaking at state level and inform school and place-based strategies. This can support a holistic, informed approach to reducing exclusion and connect schools with resources and communities.

Develop a flexible framework for alternatives to police involvement in schools across NSW.

Schools can be supported in reducing criminalisation of young people by auditing police involvement, addressing implicit bias, and conducting community asset mapping to find alternatives to police intervention. This can enable schools to build tailored resource networks, emphasising community-based solutions.

Improve NSW education data collection and reporting systems on exclusion.

NSW data could more accurately show why students are being suspended and expelled, how students are being disciplined (including the use of seclusion and restraint), when students are being informally excluded, the demographics of exclusion, whether schools are providing alternatives, and how they are providing accessible and culturally safe education.

## **Background**

#### School exclusion - the NSW context

In New South Wales (NSW), government schools are suspending students in rising numbers. NSW schools suspended approximately 1 in 50 primary school students and 1 in 10 secondary school students in 2024, equating to more than 2 students in the average secondary school class. Students can be suspended from Kindergarten to Year 12. Suspensions in Years K-2 were 0.5 per cent of students excluded in 2023 and 2.1% in 2024. International research shows early suspensions are a high-risk event for further suspension, poor learning outcomes and school disengagement. A UK study found that students suspended in primary school were approximately 10 months behind their non-suspended peers in Years 3 to 6.14



Figure 1 | Trend in primary school suspensions 2018 - 2024 (NSW)



Figure 2 | Trend in secondary school suspensions 2018 – 2024 (NSW)



Data limitations in NSW hinder a comprehensive understanding of school exclusion for various student groups, including those with disabilities not receiving adjustments, students in out-of-home care, refugees, migrants, LGBTQIASB+ students and others. However, evidence from other states and territories suggests these groups also face disproportionate exclusion. The Disability Royal Commission report of 2023 documents numerous instances of informal exclusion in NSW, such as schools asking caregivers to remove students or refusing enrolment to disabled students.

NSW does not release data on restrictive practices, seclusion, or physical punishment in schools. However, multiple reports since 2017 from the NSW Ombudsman, Children and Young People with Disability Australia and the Disability Royal Commission have all described the use of these practices in NSW schools.<sup>19</sup> Additionally, the lack of data on repeat suspensions makes it difficult to assess the effectiveness of suspension as a behaviour improvement tool.<sup>20</sup>

The current NSW-wide discipline policy views exclusion as a crucial component of student behaviour management. However, international research has found zero tolerance-style policies do not improve student behaviour. A meta-analysis of 40 US-based studies found these policies led to increased contact with the justice system for the students concerned and were also associated with increased so-called 'anti-social' or 'delinquent' behaviours. Further, schools with zero tolerance-style policies have been shown to have worsening education outcomes overall. In NSW, a wide-ranging 2017 review and investigation from the NSW Ombudsman found "no research evidence"

that the general use of suspensions reduces disruptive classroom behaviour", and that "suspension may exacerbate challenging behaviour for students with disability or trauma".<sup>22</sup>

#### **Drivers and consequences of exclusion**

International research indicates that harsh discipline practices, along with factors like high student-teacher ratios, lack of support for teachers, and implicit bias, contribute to higher suspension and expulsion rates.<sup>23</sup> In Australia, only 2 per cent of government schools are currently fully-funded to the school resource standard – the amount required to provide adequate support per student.

A new agreement between the Commonwealth and the states commencing in 2025 will aim to significantly increase this number in the next decade.<sup>24</sup>

Experts such as the Australian National Children's Commissioner have called for alternative supports and better training for teachers in behaviour management and child development to address these challenges effectively.<sup>25</sup> NSW Government data shows that greater mental health supports are needed in schools, with schools currently resourced at one counsellor for every 650 students. In 2017, the NSW Ombudsman recommended this be reduced to one counsellor for every 500 students.<sup>26</sup>

NSW suspension and expulsion data reveals that many incidents leading to disciplinary exclusion are not due to physical violence, with 24.4% of suspensions for continued disobedience or disruption in 2024. New categories in 2024 list threatening and carrying out violent behaviour in the same category, but 2023 date showed that actual physical harm was present in 10% of suspensions.<sup>27</sup> This is supported by data on criminal incident reporting in NSW schools, which shows schools as some of the safest environments for everyone.<sup>28</sup>

Nevertheless, there is a trend of increased police involvement in schools, with media reports claiming 860 calls were made to police by NSW public primary and special needs schools in 2024.<sup>29</sup> International research suggests that close police involvement in schools can lead to an increase in criminalisation of student behaviour and reduced academic achievement.<sup>30</sup>

#### Youth justice and schooling – the 'nexus'

In comparative Western contexts, school exclusion has been connected to criminalisation and imprisonment.<sup>31</sup> The school-prison pipeline, or school-prison nexus, is the metaphor for this strong correlation.<sup>32</sup> While extensively researched elsewhere, there is limited Australian data on this phenomenon.<sup>33</sup> However, the connection has been recognised by decision-makers, and NSW data, showcased below, shows a strong connection between school exclusion and imprisonment.<sup>34</sup>

Incarceration drastically reduces the likelihood of school completion.<sup>35</sup> Statistics show that, Australia-wide, only 34 per cent of adult prisoners had attended schooling beyond Year 10, compared to 87 per cent of the general population.<sup>36</sup>

International research highlights that marginalised students are disproportionately impacted by the school-prison nexus, perpetuating cycles of discrimination and inequality.<sup>37</sup> Factors such as racism, ableism, homo/transphobia, poverty, homelessness, food insecurity, lack of safety in the home, exposure to violence and trauma, alcohol and drug addiction and others contribute to higher rates of school exclusion and subsequent criminal justice involvement.<sup>38</sup>

The term school-prison nexus acknowledges the intersectional nature of disadvantage faced by excluded students and the multiple systems that can magnify inequities.<sup>39</sup> For example, in Australia, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students with disabilities and in out-of-home care face a magnified risk of exclusion.



#### The NSW policy context

Nationally, the 2020 Closing the Gap strategy aims to reduce expulsions for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students, while the Disability Royal Commission recommended school discipline reform to reduce formal and informal exclusion.<sup>41</sup>

In NSW, Section 35 of the *NSW Education Act* governs the laws around school exclusion, and state and school-based policy operates within this legislative framework.<sup>42</sup> Recent debate and policymaking on school exclusion has occurred in the context of teacher shortages, concerns about student behaviour post-COVID-19 lockdowns, ongoing issues of underfunding and broader concerns about social exclusion and incarceration.<sup>43</sup> Three inquiries in 2016-2017 raised concerns over the school exclusion process and its impacts in NSW, finding that due process was not followed in up to half of suspension and expulsion cases (such as required warnings to students, counselling, or alternative behaviour plans).<sup>44</sup>

Emerging from this, the 2021 Student Behaviour Strategy, implemented in 2022, aimed to reduce suspensions and their duration. It cited international research linking school exclusion to negative outcomes such as escalated behaviour issues, reduced attendance, poorer health and wellbeing, and increased likelihood of justice system contact. However, in 2024, these changes were reversed with the release of the Student Behaviour Policy. This new policy, responding to concerns about student behaviour, was developed in consultation with the NSW Teachers Federation, NSW Primary Principals' Association and NSW Secondary Principals' Council.

It allows for immediate suspensions, longer suspension periods, and expulsions for "serious behaviours of concern" or lack of participation in learning for students over age 17.46

Teacher shortages and associated levels of teacher stress have often been cited as reasons to make school exclusion easier. However, significant progress has been made on NSW teacher shortages, which the NSW Government attributes to significant increases in teacher pay, creating more permanent and secure roles, and localised support and recruitment.<sup>47</sup>

Before students are suspended or expelled, schools are required to follow NSW Government behaviour policies, including embedding "positive behaviour approaches, safe practices and inclusive education", based on the Positive Behaviour for Learning (PBL) framework and in line with a Behaviour Code for Students.<sup>48</sup> This emphasises establishing clear behaviour expectations, explicit teaching, positive feedback, and intervention and punishment when expectations are not followed. PBL philosophy originates in behaviourism and is influenced by models of therapeutic intervention for violent individuals.<sup>49</sup>

There are 15 professional development modules available to NSW teachers focused on PBL and only one on Restorative Practices. Restorative practices cultivate supportive and respectful behaviour, focusing on relationships rather than punishment.<sup>50</sup>

In NSW, excluded students are sometimes sent to Schools for Specific Purposes (SSPs), often known as Behaviour Schools. These are for students with "Behavioural Disorders (BD), Conduct Disorders (CD) and Emotional Disturbance (ED)." <sup>51</sup>

There are 35 Behaviour Schools in NSW, catering to students from Year 5 to Year 10. There are also 42 tutorial centres and programs attached to schools for behavioural and educational support, and 22 suspension centres for students who are suspended for more than five days. Current policy allows for students to be referred to Behaviour Schools when "all other behaviour support provisions" at mainstream schools have been exhausted, and referral to suspension centres and tutorial centres is at the discretion of school Principals.<sup>52</sup>

Students and young people in NSW can be charged with a crime and detained between ages 10 and 18. If bail is refused, they are held in custody until the matter is finalised; if found guilty, they can be sentenced to imprisonment, known as a "control order" in NSW.<sup>53</sup> School exclusion is a strong predictor of youth criminalisation and incarceration, and in turn that is a very strong predictor of adult incarceration. In June 2025 there were 234 young people in custody across NSW, a 34% increase over two years.<sup>54</sup>

There are six youth justice centres in NSW. Young people can be provided education through Education Training Units within each centre and research suggests the flexible nature of this education is often beneficial.<sup>55</sup>

#### Reinvestment, restorative reforms and lived expertise

While there is ample evidence that school exclusion does not work for students or provide genuine solutions for stressed schools and teachers, there is strong evidence that reinvestment in inclusion and programs aimed at keeping young people out of jail can be effective. A Justice Reform Initiative (JRI) study in NSW evaluated and summarised 90 examples of "community-led programs, place-based initiatives, services, policy frameworks and alternative justice approaches" that are working to prevent criminalisation or imprisonment in the state. One of these programs, run by the NSW Community Restorative Centre, is detailed below, demonstrating positive results. Many of the programs examined by JRI have been successfully evaluated, and JRI concludes that they overall demonstrate the efficacy of community-based approaches. They are potentially also significantly more cost-effective than imprisonment. Though there is no NSW data comparing the cost of community-based interventions to imprisonment, there is ample international evidence showing that restorative justice and inclusive, community-based interventions have a significant benefit-cost ratio. The case studies featured later in this report include approaches from other jurisdictions that have been successfully utilised inside schools to disrupt the school-prison nexus.

There is some evidence in NSW of school-based interventions working to stem the school-prison nexus. A NSW pilot program funded by the Department of Social Services and led by the YMCA, Alternative Suspension, is providing a place for suspended students to attend during their suspensions, aiming to create a supportive, positive experience for students and keep them safe and engaged during their suspensions. Data reported by the program demonstrates positive results, with 94 per cent of students returning to school at the end of the program and 54 per cent of schools reporting positive change among students who attend.<sup>57</sup>

In addition to program evaluations, the experiences of excluded young people themselves offer valuable insights for policymakers. Aboriginal young people from Mt Druitt, with Just Reinvest NSW, produced a significant report in 2023, *Mounty Yarns*, detailing the lived experiences of approximately 100 young people with the justice system. It provides important details on first-hand experiences within the school system and how exclusion from schooling exacerbates and propels criminalisation. These young people "have experiences of being in foster care, being suspended and excluded from multiple schools, and of being in and out of custody." <sup>58</sup>

The testimony of one justice-involved student, who had received a court order to attend school as a bail condition, speaks to a culture of school exclusion and how it reinforces student disengagement and distrust:



#### Student testimony, Mounty Yarns

As I left court I was mad. They gave me a bail condition to go to school. I haven't been at school in more than a year. I was kicked out of mostly every school and now when I get suspended I'm happy because I don't have to go to school.

The teachers I've had are racist and called me "stupid", "ADHD", "ODD", "shit". They said I was a "bad kid". It made me feel dumb as hell. Teachers also targeted me and my friends and jumped to conclusions about us because of our last names.

I wish instead of just suspending me all the time, they could have helped me, because the more they suspended me the more I didn't care.

The teachers didn't really know what to do with us, because a lot of the time we didn't even want to be there. But they didn't really try to find out why we didn't want to be there. Instead of sitting down and actually talking to us and trying to understand where we were coming from, they would try to get us out of the school and out of the way. We know things about surviving systems that they'll never know. We knew then that if teachers didn't care enough to try with us, then no one else would.<sup>59</sup>

### The cost of the school-prison nexus

#### **US** data

Cost of implementing restorative practices in a large US public school district, adjusted to AUD: \$91,548.82 per school, \$221.50 per student for the first year.

#### **UK data**

Research on the social return on investment of restorative justice interventions for offenders found a social benefit-cost ratio of approximately AUD \$26.60 per AUD \$1 invested, with a direct return to the criminal justice system of around AUD \$7.60 as a result of substantial reductions in reoffending.<sup>60</sup>

#### **Australian data**

The 2025 Report on Government Services data showed that in 2024, the cost per student of education in a NSW Government school was \$3929 per year, or \$10.70 per day.<sup>61</sup> The average daily cost to detain a young person in a Youth Justice centre was \$2,748.96 in 2021-2. That makes a day in youth custody around 257 times more expensive than a day in school.<sup>62</sup>



## Addressing the school-prison nexus: case studies

While research and advocacy on the school-prison nexus in Australia is only emerging, international research includes a wealth of material on discipline, policy and other solutions.

#### Key findings include:

- restorative justice programs and practices help improve school culture and reduce exclusions.<sup>63</sup>
- investing in initiatives that reduce youth incarceration provide significant costbenefits.<sup>64</sup>
- local and collaborative involvement in policymaking is essential for effective reform.<sup>65</sup>
- targeted efforts are required to address the overrepresentation of marginalised students.<sup>66</sup>
- establishing alternatives to police involvement in schools is critical.<sup>67</sup>

Drawing on this knowledge base, this project developed a qualitative, comparative interview-based case study research methodology, informed by Indigenist and intersectional research (see Annex A for more detail). In addition to a review of publicly available data, semi-structured interviews were conducted with policy experts, campaigners and advocates in four different countries and contexts, all working to address the school-prison nexus.

The research focused on organisations in Sydney, Australia, and Chicago, USA, and national groups in Canada and Scotland. These groups are all working at different 'ends' of the nexus - supporting criminalised young people, addressing school discipline cultures, addressing police and criminalisation, and addressing inclusive policymaking, respectively. Interviews were conducted online and face-to-face, audio-recorded, transcribed using AI, and analysed thematically through document analysis and iterative consultation.

To test key insights from the project and gather feedback, work-in-progress sessions were hosted with community organisations, advocates and experts in NSW.

Taken together, the research demonstrates that resourcing school inclusion and developing collaborative policymaking models focused on keeping students in school is not only possible, but can be doable, cost-effective and just.

# Australia: "making it work" to change the trajectory of justice-involved young people

Australia faces significant challenges with youth justice, including in NSW where the number of young people in custody is increasing and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth remain starkly overrepresented. As of December 2024, 57.3 per cent of youth in custody in NSW identified as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander, and the rate of youth detention increased by 31.6 per cent from the previous year. Research demonstrates that early contact with the criminal justice system is a strong predictor of further involvement and adult incarceration, with Aboriginal males who first encounter the system between ages 10 and 14 averaging 19 court appearances by age 39.69

Recognising these patterns, policy and community attention have increased focus on alternatives to punitive responses, instead emphasising prevention, diversion and reintegration. The Community Restorative Centre (CRC) in NSW exemplifies this shift through its Pathways program, which provides holistic, wraparound support for young people involved with the criminal justice system. The program offers intensive case management and counselling that addresses housing, education, employment, addiction, disability and family needs, with a strong emphasis on building trust and long-term relationships. Pathways staff report that most young people they support have experienced exclusion from mainstream schooling and that reoffending often occurs during periods of educational disengagement. Reintegration into school post-custody is a major challenge, as students face inflexible systems, stigma, and a lack of coordinated support. The Pathways team reported, "young people going back to school [feel] judged from the second they walk in." Phowever, some schools demonstrate success through close collaboration with community organisations.

The CRC's approach is strengths-based and restorative, seeking to address the underlying social drivers of offending.<sup>73</sup> The program's staff highlight the importance of flexible, trauma-informed schooling (as sometimes seen in youth justice education settings) and the need for schools to adapt to the complex needs of returning students. However, systemic barriers remain, including fragmented service provision, limited access to therapeutic supports within schools, and persistent stigma attached to justice-involved youth. The Pathways program works to bridge this gap by helping students reintegrate into schools, connect them to resources and help them and their families navigate systems.<sup>74</sup> The team provides targeted support for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people, young people with drug and alcohol use challenges, and with disability and mental health support.<sup>75</sup>

The Pathways program has not yet been singularly evaluated, an independent review of CRC's community transition programs and their alcohol and drugs programs for NSW Health found their impact 'extraordinarily positive.'<sup>76</sup> Moreover, JRI's broader evidence from community-led, post-release and diversionary programs in NSW indicates substantial reductions in recidivism: between 62 per cent and 66 per cent in some cases.<sup>77</sup>

The evidence highlights the need for sustained investment in community-based, holistic supports that prioritise rehabilitation and reintegration over punishment. Effective models centre the voices and experiences of young people, address the structural drivers of disadvantage, and build strong partnerships across education, justice, health, and social services. By scaling such approaches, NSW may be able to disrupt cycles of exclusion and incarceration, improve outcomes for marginalised youth, and ultimately reduce the long-term social and economic costs of youth justice involvement.

#### Chicago, US: changing school discipline cultures

Restorative justice has been embedded in Chicago Public Schools (CPS) since the late 1990s, in response to high rates of exclusionary discipline and stark racial disparities – Black students, who comprise 36 per cent of CPS, represent 60 per cent of suspensions. In 2024, after several years of campaigning, the CPS Board removed all police officers from schools and adopted Whole School Safety Plans (WSSPs) that prioritise physical, emotional, and relational safety. This shift comes amid a broader US context where some states are reintroducing zero tolerance policies post-COVID-19, but Chicago has moved in the opposite direction, instead focusing on inclusion and prevention.

A key driver of this shift has been Alternatives, a Chicago-based nonprofit organisation leading the implementation of restorative justice in schools. Over 10,000 CPS students and teachers have participated in their programs, which advocate for police-free schools and broader policy reform. Alternatives provides free, grant-funded services to schools, including intensive coaching, curriculum development, and training for both students and adults in restorative practices. Their model emphasises multiyear partnerships, school-wide assessments, and tailored professional development, with a focus on building relationships between teachers and students.

The results of these efforts have been significant, though gradual. Schools working with Alternatives have reported reductions in disciplinary incidents, suspensions and expulsions, alongside increased graduation rates, student engagement and improved teacher-student and peer relationships. These outcomes are attributed to long-term, whole-school buy-in, with leadership and staff committed to shifting school culture. Alternatives staff explained, "if we are able to change the mindsets of the adults that are in the building that are very influential in the lives of young people, then we can begin to see some of those changes we want to see within the culture of the school". Alternatives' approach recognises the impact of external factors such as trauma, violence, and food insecurity on student behaviour and positions schools as critical sites for disrupting cycles of youth criminalisation. Day-to-day strategies include teacher and student education in restorative practices, emotional regulation and conflict resolution, as well as youth advocacy, which is supported by on-site staff who provide one-on-one support, peace rooms, restorative meetings, and access to counselling and assessment for disability and neurodiversity.

In contextualising this work, it is important to distinguish between restorative programs (which provide training and tools) and restorative practices (which are embedded in daily school life). Research shows that while programs alone may not always lead to sustained change, consistent exposure to restorative practices, particularly conflict resolution practices, improves academic performance and reduces school suspensions, with particularly strong effects for racialised students. This highlights the potential of restorative practices to address both disciplinary disparities and broader educational inequalities. The Chicago experience indicates that meaningful change requires sustained investment, comprehensive training for both staff and students, and a commitment to transforming the mindsets of adults within schools.

#### Scotland: keeping kids in school

Scotland provides a compelling example of how a systemic, collaborative approach can provide alternatives to school exclusion. So Unlike England, where exclusion rates have risen post-COVID-19, especially among marginalised student groups, Scotland has reduced permanent exclusions to almost zero, with just one case recorded in 2022/2023 compared to 21 in 2012/2013. This reduction is the result of a national commitment to the right to education for all and to end the exclusion of public care-experienced children, with government policy requiring schools to exhaust every possible alternative before excluding a student. For this project, Professor Gillean McCluskey, an advisor to the Scottish Government's Department of Education who has worked on policies to reduce school exclusion there for two decades, was interviewed.

Central to Scotland's strategy is a shift from punitive discipline to "relationship-based policies" that focus on understanding student behaviour as a response to distress, not simply as misconduct. The national policy, Included, Engaged and Involved, frames behaviour management around building positive relationships and addressing underlying needs rather than enforcing compliance. Informal or unofficial exclusions, such as sending students home "to cool off", are considered unlawful, regardless of parental agreement. This approach is supported by a staged intervention model, emphasising early identification of issues and proactive support, rather than waiting for problems to escalate.

Scotland's model is highly collaborative. Schools work closely with health professionals, social workers, and community organisations, often bringing these services into the school to ensure students can access support without bureaucratic obstacles. As McCluskey notes, "multi-professional working that's based around schools has a really long tradition in Scotland". Policymaking is also collaborative: the Scottish Advisory Group on Relationships and Behaviour in Schools (SAGRABIS) brings together government, local authorities, teachers, psychologists, academics, parents, and antibullying groups to guide policy and practice. As McCluskey explains, this provides a balance of expertise, experience and interest groups, avoiding reactive policy changes. It also mitigates against one-size-fits-all policies and instead supports contextual, needs-based responses.

Despite these successes, challenges remain. Research shows that students with public care experience, disabilities, additional support needs, or from the most deprived areas are still at higher risk of exclusion, and significant variation exists between schools and council areas, often reflecting broader demographic and socioeconomic inequalities. Temporary exclusions still occur in the third year of secondary school and are influenced by local practice as well as student background.

However, the Scottish model's focus on inclusion, early intervention, and multiagency support has proven effective in reducing overall exclusion rates and mitigating the school-prison pipeline.

Scotland's experience suggests that a national commitment to inclusion, relationship-based support, and collaborative, adaptive policymaking – grounded in the right to education and shaped by sustained engagement with diverse stakeholders – can significantly reduce school exclusion and improve outcomes.

#### Toronto, Canada: reinvesting in school safety

In Canada, education policy is determined at the provincial, territorial and local school board level, with some federal responsibility in Indigenous education, leading to varied approaches to school safety and discipline. In recent decades, advocates have raised issues of police involvement in criminalising students and challenged the use of police-in-schools programs, such as School Resource Officer (SRO) programs. Several Canadian school boards, including in Winnipeg and Toronto, have ended SRO programs after evidence showed these programs disproportionately harm racialised students and fail to improve school safety or student wellbeing.

Policing-Free Schools (Canada) (PFS-C) is a community-based organisation that advocates for the removal of police from all educational settings as a first step towards building safer, more inclusive schools. As Director and Principal Consultant of PFS-C, Andrea Vásquez Jiménez, notes, "we're pro-education, pro-youth, pro-evidence-based measures as to what will actually create healthy, thriving learning environments for all." An important aspect of this involves training and establishing processes for the deprioritization of police involvement. Vásquez Jiménez cited an example of a US school district that has developed a police-free response quick guide for school administrators on who to contact in different scenarios. She also emphasised the importance of developing wider awareness across schools about community-based partners and non-policing resources, including creating resource maps of external organisations and supports. 100

PFS-C emphasises the need for divesting and redirecting funds previously spent on policing towards hiring more counsellors, social workers, educational assistants, and nurses. These professionals can provide critical mental health support, address bullying and addiction issues, support disabled students, and offer health education, tackling the root causes of distress and conflict rather than relying on punitive or exclusionary discipline. PFS-C advocates for implementing restorative and transformative justice practices, which focus on transformative accountability, conflict transformation, repairing harm and addressing the systemic issues that created the conditions for the harm, rather than simply punishing individual students. For this reason, Vásquez Jiménez emphasises the need for broader systemic changes, including adequate school funding, smaller class sizes, and attention to social conditions like poverty that impact student wellbeing and behaviour.<sup>101</sup>

In 2017, Canada's largest school board, the Toronto District School Board (TDSB), ended its SRO program following efforts by community organisations. Comparing data from before and after this decision, the TDSB's annual report revealed significant reductions in disciplinary actions, with suspensions decreasing by 24 per cent and expulsions by 53 per cent. 102 These statistics suggest that removing police officers from schools contributes to a decrease in punitive measures and student criminalisation. Although disparities in exclusion persist, TDSB continues to work with schools to embed principles of anti-racism and anti-oppression and to provide learning opportunities for more staff to be trained in restorative and transformative practices.

Although recent reports of increased school violence across Ontario have led to renewed calls for police presence in schools, there is no evidence that placing police in schools reduces violence. <sup>103</sup> In fact, a Campbell Systematic review of police-in-school programs found no evidence that there is a safety-promoting component of such programs, and that such programs contribute to the criminalisation of students. <sup>104</sup>

# A policy agenda for NSW

Insights from the above research and case studies indicate that there is an opportunity for NSW to develop an alternative approach to supporting students to remain engaged in school. Disrupting the school-prison nexus in NSW requires a holistic and coordinated, evidence-based strategy that prioritises inclusion, support, and community partnership. There are various pathways that can be taken to achieve this.

Redirect resources from punitive measures to school-based support systems to better support teachers.

Reinvestment takes resources away from punishment and exclusion-centred models, such as police in schools and into resourcing community and place-based support initiatives in mental health, restorative justice models, alternative and therapeutic programs, and social services. Research demonstrates long-term social and economic benefits, though largely reinvestment models have been focused outside schools. The potential of reinvestment *in* schooling could provide focused resources to navigate student distress and support inclusive education. This approach sees school as a crucial site for diversion and reintegration into school for justice-involved young people.

#### To achieve this, NSW could:

1

- Expand the existing commitment to increase school counsellors to a minimum of 1 per 500 students, as recommended by the NSW Ombudsman, as a minimum standard, to ensure students receive appropriate support for trauma and behavioural issues.
- Redirect resources from youth custody programs to expand evidence-based, school-based preventative and post-justice involvement programs.
- Establish a voluntary school-based grant program, based on the current model of justice reinvestment, enabling schools to apply for resources to:
  - Review and reform discipline policies to reduce exclusion.
  - Provide staff training in restorative practices and trauma-informed practices.
  - Support reintegration of justice-involved young people in schools.
  - Map community assets and foster school-community partnerships.
  - Enhance support for disabled students.
  - Develop creative and therapeutic programs as alternatives to suspension
  - Recruit key support staff (e.g. social workers, school counsellors, trauma-informed care personnel, creative therapists) for tailored student support.<sup>106</sup>
- Commission independent research to evaluate the long-term economic and social impacts of these measures, including scaled, projected economic cost and benefit in the long term.

#### 2 Develop a NSW school discipline policy that prioritises keeping students in school.

Rather than improving student behaviour, school exclusion can set students up for disrupted education and criminalisation. But schools can also be a powerful social force for social inclusion and preventing incarceration. A NSW discipline policy can be future-focused, starting with the aim of ending school exclusion and keeping kids in school.

#### **NSW** could:

- Make ending school exclusion the goal of policy.
- End zero tolerance-style policies that assume exclusion changes behaviour.
- Amend Section 35 of the NSW Education Act to restrict exclusionary practices, prohibiting suspension and exclusion for non-violent behaviours.
- Develop creative, place-based policies to empower and resource schools and teachers to reduce exclusion, by incentivising schools that want to end or reduce exclusion and by engaging with communities.
- Strengthen appeals processes for exclusion by developing and supporting independent appeals.

# 3 Implement restorative, trauma-informed and relational approaches in education legislation, policy and practice.

Restorative programs and practices embed emotional regulation, conflict resolution, inclusive practices and forms of mutual accountability across school curriculum, cultures, policies and practices. These models are based on recognising the contexts and situations that create student distress, building trust and respectful relationships, and developing forms of accountability that emphasise repair, healing and safety for all.

#### **NSW** could:

- Reframe school discipline policy on principles of inclusion, restoration, mutual accountability and holistic wellbeing, rather than student behaviour change and punishment.
- Develop school-level safety plans that enshrine the responsibility of schools to keep students safe, and account for students' safety when physically removing them from school grounds.
- Resource school-based intensive training and practice in restorative justice in selected interested schools or locations with integrated long-term support (minimum twelve months) from professionals in addition to existing school staff.
- Support research alongside these initiatives to investigate and evaluate the potential of schoolbased restorative practices.
- Extend available professional development in conflict resolution using restorative practices for all teachers and principals in NSW.

#### 4

# Develop a collaborative policymaking framework and involve community in decision-making.

Students, their families, local communities, and expert representatives often have valuable insights and knowledge that can provide solutions to exclusion and help schools and teachers identify and understand the context of distressed behaviour.

#### **NSW** could:

- Establish a collaborative policy development framework at both the state-wide and local school
  community level, bringing together a range of stakeholders including teachers' unions,
  principals' associations, disability advocates, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advocates,
  multicultural community organisations, mental health services and experts, researchers,
  educational psychologists, curriculum professionals, justice reinvestment specialists, social
  workers, and those working in programs aimed at reducing youth incarceration.
- Develop place-based programs that bring together community and service organisations that can assist students and families to support their children's education.
- Promote youth-led initiatives by supporting policies that empower youth to lead advocacy
  efforts for change within their schools. This can include funding for youth advocacy groups, youth
  creative projects, youth engagement in community and service organisations.
- Ensure all students and families receive clear, accessible information about their rights in relation to school exclusion, including available supports and avenues for appeal.

#### 5

# Develop a flexible framework for alternatives to police involvement in schools across NSW.

International research shows that police presence in school can increase rates of criminalisation and incarceration and negatively impact student outcomes, particularly for marginalised students.

#### **NSW** could:

- Implement a regular review of police involvement in schools, including School Liaison Police, the experiences of students from different backgrounds, patterns of exclusion and rates of student achievement.
- Resource a customisable school-level quick reference guide for schools and teachers outlining
  appropriate responses to distressed student behaviours and situations of violence, with attention
  to addressing implicit bias and its impact on threat perception.

- Through community asset mapping, schools can identify local support services that serve as alternatives to police intervention or involvement.
- Support schools, communities and service providers to work together to form local justice reinvestment partnerships that:
  - Identify and address the root causes of student exclusion and youth incarceration through data-driven, community-led planning;
  - Redirect funding and other resources to implement evidence-based, community-based alternatives such as restorative practices, mental health and disability supports, and reintegration programs for justice-involved youth;
  - Establish regular joint planning and case coordination meetings between schools, community organisations, and service agencies to ensure integrated support for at-risk students.

#### 6 Improve NSW education data collection and reporting systems.

In order to prevent exclusion, better data is required in NSW to assess why students are being suspended and expelled, how students are being disciplined (including the use of seclusion and restraint), when students are being informally excluded such as through the denial of enrolment, which students are facing exclusion more often, and whether schools are providing alternatives, involving families, and providing accessible and culturally safe education.

#### NSW could:

- Collect data and publicly report on reasons for suspension and expulsion as well as seclusion and restraint.
- Collect data and publicly report on which students are being suspended and expelled, with
  deeper demographic information including, but not limited to, students in out-of-home care,
  students who are disabled but not receiving adjustment, students who are LGBTIQASB+,
  socioeconomic status, refugee and asylum seeker backgrounds, and students from migrant
  and culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.
- Collect data and publicly report on repeat suspensions and expulsions.
- Develop mechanisms to gather and publicly report data on informal exclusion, such as denial of enrolment and repeated calls to remove children.
- Develop and implement a mechanism to audit and publicly report on school suspension and exclusion data, requiring schools to document and report the specific supports and interventions provided to students prior to exclusion, to ensure accountability and drive improvements in inclusive practice.

### Conclusion

The school-prison nexus in NSW public schools represents a critical challenge for policymakers, educators and communities. Exclusionary discipline practices disproportionately impact Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students and students from other marginalised groups, compounding existing inequalities and increasing the likelihood of contact with the criminal justice system. Around the world and at home, punitive approaches have not improved student behaviour or educational outcomes and instead have been shown to perpetuate cycles of disadvantage and incarceration.

Research and policy developments in NSW, alongside international evidence, highlight the need to shift from exclusionary models to evidence-based, community-led alternatives. Approaches such as restorative practices, holistic support systems, and programs that address the underlying social drivers of disengagement and challenging student behaviour – such as poverty, trauma, and discrimination – have demonstrated greater effectiveness in supporting at-risk students and improving school climates in ways that reduce stress on teachers and schools.

While there is growing recognition of the harms of current approaches, there is also evidence from existing reinvestment and restorative-focused programs working in NSW, and in comparable education systems globally. There is an opportunity for NSW to invest in scalable, best-practice alternatives that prioritise prevention, early intervention, and support. Redirecting resources from punitive discipline to community-based solutions can break entrenched cycles of disadvantage and deliver substantial cost savings and broader benefits for community safety and wellbeing. Addressing school exclusion and, in turn, youth incarceration can have positive effects on crime and incarceration for a lifetime.

Achieving these outcomes requires a substantial policy shift that centres the voices of those most affected, particularly Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and disabled communities, and addresses the structural inequities underpinning the school-prison nexus in NSW. By embracing inclusive, evidence-based alternatives, NSW can disrupt the pathways from school exclusion to incarceration and ensure thriving learning environments in which every student is known, valued and cared for.

## Annex A: Methodology and participants

The project adopted a qualitative, comparative case study methodology informed by Indigenist and intersectional research. It involved four key components: (1) a review of publicly available NSW data and policy on school exclusions and prison populations to identify patterns and gaps; (2) a rolling literature review of alternative discipline and restorative justice programs across Australia, the USA, UK, Canada, and Aotearoa/New Zealand; (3) semi-structured interviews with 4 to 32 adult policy experts, campaigners, and advocates across 4–8 organisations in up to five countries; and (4) a work-in-progress session where initial findings were presented to key community organisations, advocates and experts in NSW for feedback. Interviews were conducted online and face-to-face, audio-recorded, transcribed using AI, and analysed thematically through document analysis and iterative consultation.

#### Overview of people interviewed

- Professor Tracey McIntosh, Ngāi Tūhoe and Professor of Indigenous Studies in Te Wānanga Waipapa (School of Māori Studies and Pacific Studies) at the University of Auckland
- · Youth Pathways Team, at Community Restorative Centre
- Alexis Hardy, Restorative Justice Director and Shaharazad Johnson, Behavioural Health Program Director, at Alternatives Youth Inc
- Professor Gillean McCluskey, Professor of Education in Moray House of Education and Sport at the University of Edinburgh
- · Andrea Vásquez Jiménez, Director and Principal Consultant, at Policing Free Schools Canada

#### Overview of type of people/organisation invited to work-in-progress session

 Youth advocacy organisations; education focused organisations; Indigenous research organisations; academic experts; criminal justice system advocacy groups; teachers and their representative organisations; disability advocacy groups; LGBTIQASB+ advocacy groups.

Approximately 25 individuals attended the session, which was held online on 25 January 2025. The case studies were presented, and participants were then asked to consider the following questions:

- Long-term impact: What long-term effects do you anticipate this policy/approach having on school culture, student outcomes, and community relations?
- 2. Feasibility: How realistic is it to implement this policy/approach in the NSW educational and political context?
- 3. Effectiveness: To what extent do you believe this policy/approach would reduce school exclusions and improve outcomes for First Nations students in NSW?
- 4. Potential challenges: What are the main obstacles or resistance points we might face in implementing this policy/approach?

- 5. Equity considerations: How does this policy/approach specifically address the needs of students facing intersecting disadvantages? E.g. racism, sexism, homophobia, transphobia, ableism, xenophobia, urban vs rural/remote.
- 6. Resource requirements: What additional resources (financial, human, training) would be needed to implement this policy/approach effectively?
- 7. Stakeholder support: Which key stakeholders would likely support or oppose this policy/approach, and why?
- 8. Unintended consequences: Are there any potential negative outcomes or unintended consequences we should consider?
- 9. Measurability: How can we measure the success or impact of this policy/approach over time?
- 10. Scalability: Can this policy/approach be effectively scaled across different school regions or in other states/territories?
- 11. Integration: How does this policy/approach complement or conflict with existing educational policies and practices?
- 12. Community engagement: How does this policy/approach involve or empower students, families, and community members in decision-making processes?

Feedback from participants in response to these questions was transcribed and analysed using thematic analysis. The feedback helped refine the policy opportunities presented above.

### **Endnotes**

<sup>1</sup>NSW Department of Education, 2024 suspensions and expulsions (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2025), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf</a> We note that the suspension and expulsion data released for 2024 (in September 2025) is based on calculating full-time equivalent students, rather than entire NSW student population. Full time equivalent numbers count numbers attending on a full-time basis, rather than the whole student population. All figures before this date are based on whole student population numbers. If the 2024 suspension and expulsion figures were based on the whole student population, they would be slightly higher. At the time of writing, the number of students enrolled in NSW schools and the FTE figure comparisons were not yet realised by the Department of Education.

<sup>2</sup> Ibid.

- <sup>3</sup> Anna M Sullivan, Neil Tippett, Bruce Johnson, and Jamie Manolev, *Understanding Disproportionality* and School Exclusions, School Exclusions Study Key Issues Paper No. 4 (Adelaide: University of South Australia, 2020),
- https://www.schoolexclusionsstudy.com.au/application/files/3816/0205/0967/Key\_Issues\_Paper\_4\_School\_Exclusions\_Study\_Disproportionality\_30092020.pdf.
- <sup>4</sup>NSW Department of Education, *2024 suspensions and expulsions* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2025), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf</a>.
- <sup>5</sup> NSW Ombudsman, *NSW Ombudsman Inquiry into behaviour management in schools* (Sydney: Ombudsman NSW, 2017), <a href="https://cmsassets.ombo.nsw.gov.au/assets/Reports/NSW-Ombudsman-Inquiry-into-behaviour-management-in-schools.pdf">https://cmsassets.ombo.nsw.gov.au/assets/Reports/NSW-Ombudsman-Inquiry-into-behaviour-management-in-schools.pdf</a>.
- <sup>6</sup> Erin Morley, "Police called to NSW schools 20,000 times in the last year," *Education Review*, 23 January 2024, <a href="https://www.educationreview.com.au/2024/01/police-called-to-nsw-schools-20000-times-in-the-last-year/">https://www.educationreview.com.au/2024/01/police-called-to-nsw-schools-20000-times-in-the-last-year/</a>.
- <sup>7</sup>NSW Department of Education, *Student Behaviour Strategy: March 2021* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2021), <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/student-wellbeing/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/media/Student\_Behaviour\_Strategy\_March\_2021.pdf">https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/student-wellbeing/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/media/Student\_Behaviour\_Strategy\_March\_2021.pdf</a>.
- <sup>8</sup> Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Adults in Prison (Sydney: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023), <a href="https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/adults-in-prison">https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/adults-in-prison</a>.
- <sup>9</sup> Leanne Fray, Felicia Jaremus, Jennifer Gore, Andrew Miller, and Jess Harris, "Under pressure and overlooked: The impact of COVID-19 on teachers in NSW public schools", *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 50:3 (2023), 701-727.
- <sup>10</sup> Anna M. Sullivan, Bruce Johnson, Larry Owens, and Robert Conway, "Punish them or engage them?: Teachers' views of unproductive student behaviours in the classroom", *Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online)*, 39:6 (2014), 43–56.
- NSW Department of Education, 2024 suspensions and expulsions (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2025), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf</a>.

- <sup>12</sup>NSW Department of Education, *Full Year 2023 suspensions and expulsions* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2024), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a436dbf77548d/resource/6854f9d7-12fd-4bf4-b16d-262161f2ea25/download/full-year-2023-suspensions-and-expulsions.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a436dbf77548d/resource/6854f9d7-12fd-4bf4-b16d-262161f2ea25/download/full-year-2023-suspensions-and-expulsions.pdf</a>; Ibid.
- <sup>13</sup> Paul Hemez, John J. Brent, and Thomas J. Mowen, "Exploring the school-to-prison pipeline: How school suspensions influence incarceration during young adulthood," Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice, 18:3 (2020), 235-255; Katie Johnston-Goodstar, LeVi Boucher, and Megan Red Shirt-Shaw, "You Take the Punches": Native Youth Experiences of School Pushout", Equity & Excellence in Education, 55: 3 (2022), 270-282; Nora Luna and Anita Tijerina Revilla, "Understanding Latina/o school pushout: Experiences of students who left school before graduating", Journal of Latinos and Education, 12: 1 (2013), 22-37; Edward W. Morris, Brea L. Perry, "The Punishment Gap: School Suspension and Racial Disparities in Achievement", Social Problems, 63:1 (2016), 68-86; Janet Rosenbaum, "Educational and criminal justice outcomes 12 years after school suspension", Youth & Society, 52:4 (2020), 515-547; Jaymes Pyne, "Suspended Attitudes: Exclusion and Emotional Disengagement from School", Sociology of Education, 92:1 (2019), 59-82.
- <sup>14</sup>Education Policy Institute, *Outcomes for pupils suspended in primary school* (London: Education Policy Institute, 2024), <a href="https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/outcomes-for-pupils-suspended-in-primary-school/">https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/outcomes-for-pupils-suspended-in-primary-school/</a>.
- <sup>15</sup>NSW NSW Department of Education, 2024 suspensions and expulsions (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2025), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf</a>.
- locational J. Graham, Callula Killingly, Matilda Alexander, and Sophie Wiggans, "Suspensions in QLD state schools, 2016–2020: Overrepresentation, intersectionality and disproportionate risk", *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 51:4 (2024), 1527–1558; Shiralee Poed, Kathy Cologon, and Robert Jackso, "Gatekeeping and restrictive practices by Australian mainstream schools: results of a national survey", *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 26:8 (2020), 766–779; Corrinne T. Sullivan, Duy Tran, Kim Spurway, Linda Briskman, John Leha, William Trewlynn, and Karen Soldatic, "Absolutely it was not safe: Indigenous LGBTIQSB+ experiences of education in Australia", *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education (Online)*, 53:1 (2024), 1-18.
- <sup>17</sup>The Victorian Government provides statistics on expulsions for students by gender, Aboriginality, refugee/migrant/asylum seeker status, disabled students receiving an adjustment, and year level. These demonstrate disproportionality. These are available at: Department of Education and Training Victoria, Statistics on Victorian schools and teaching: Expulsions (Melbourne: Victorian Government, 2024), https://www.vic.gov.au/statistics-victorian-schools-and-teaching#expulsions.
- <sup>18</sup> Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, *Final Report Volume 7: Inclusive education, employment and housing* (Canberra: Australian Government, 2023), <a href="https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report-volume-7-inclusive-education-employment-and-housing">https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report-volume-7-inclusive-education-employment-and-housing</a>.
- <sup>19</sup> Children and Young People with Disability Australia (CYDA), Disappointment and discrimination: CYDA's surveys of the learning experiences of children and young people with disability in 2022 and 2023 (Collingwood: CYDA, 2023), <a href="https://cyda.org.au/wp-">https://cyda.org.au/wp-</a>; Linda Graham, Tony McCarthy, Callula Killingly, Haley Tancredi and Shiralee Poed, Inquiry into suspension, exclusion and expulsion processes in South Australian government schools (Brisbane: The Centre for Inclusive Education, Queensland University of Technology, 2020),

https://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:ea59a4d; NSW Ombudsman, NSW Ombudsman Inquiry into behaviour management in schools (Sydney:

Ombudsman NSW, 2017), <a href="https://cmsassets.ombo.nsw.gov.au/assets/Reports/NSW-Ombudsman-Inquiry-into-behaviour-management-in-schools.pdf">https://cmsassets.ombo.nsw.gov.au/assets/Reports/NSW-Ombudsman-Inquiry-into-behaviour-management-in-schools.pdf</a>; Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, *Final Report - Volume 7: Inclusive education*, employment and housing (Canberra: Australian Government, 2023), <a href="https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report">https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report</a>.

- <sup>20</sup> Kimber L. Wilkerson, and Kemal Afacan, "Repeated school suspensions: Who receives them, what reasons are given, and how students fare", *Education and urban society*, 54:3 (2022), 249-267.
- <sup>21</sup> Julie Gerlinger, Samantha Viano, Joseph H. Gardella, Benjamin W. Fisher, F. Chris Curran, and Ethan M. Higgins, "Exclusionary school discipline and delinquent outcomes: A meta-analysis", *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 50:8 (2021), 1493-1509; Francis L. Huang, and Dewey G. Cornell, "Teacher Support for Zero Tolerance Is Associated With Higher Suspension Rates and Lower Feelings of Safety", *School Psychology Review*, 50:2-3 (2021), 388-405.
- <sup>22</sup>Ombudsman NSW, *NSW Ombudsman Inquiry into behaviour management in schools* (Sydney: Ombudsman NSW, 2017), <a href="https://cmsassets.ombo.nsw.gov.au/assets/Reports/NSW-Ombudsman-Inquiry-into-behaviour-management-in-schools.pdf">https://cmsassets.ombo.nsw.gov.au/assets/Reports/NSW-Ombudsman-Inquiry-into-behaviour-management-in-schools.pdf</a>.
- <sup>23</sup> Francesca Ashurst and Couze Venn, *Inequality, poverty, education: A political economy of school* exclusion (London: Springer, 2014); Dorothy A Cheng. "Teacher racial composition and exclusion rates among Black or African American students", Education and Urban Society, 51:6 (2019): 822-847; Sara Costa, Viviana Langher, and Sabine Pirchio. "Teachers' implicit attitudes toward ethnic minority students: A systematic review", Frontiers in Psychology, 12 (2021); J L Dunning-Lozano, "Secondary Discipline: The Unintended Consequences of Zero Tolerance School Discipline for Low-Income Black and Latina Mothers", Urban Education, 57:9 (2018), 1511-1538; Louise Gazeley, Tish Marrable, Chris Brown, and Janet Boddy. "Contextualising inequalities in rates of school exclusion in English schools: Beneath the 'Tip of the Ice-Berg'", British Journal of Educational Studies, 63:4 (2015): 487-504; Callie Silver and Katherine M. Zinsser, "The interplay among early childhood teachers' social and emotional well-being, mental health consultation, and preschool expulsion", Early Education and Development, 31:7 (2020), 1133-1150; E J Girvan, K McIntosh and M R Santiago-Rosario, "Associations between community-level racial biases, office discipline referrals, and out-of-school suspensions", School Psychology Review, 50:2-3 (2023), 288-302; A. M. Loomis & C. C Panlilio, "Trauma-informed attitudes, teacher stress, and expulsion decision risk in preschool classrooms", School mental health, 14:4 (2022); 918-932; Katherine M Zinser, H. Callie Silver, Elyse R. Shenberger, and Velisha Jackson, "A systematic review of early childhood exclusionary discipline." Review of Educational Research, 92:5 (2022): 743-785.
- <sup>24</sup>Laura Perry, "Underfunded? Overfunded? How school funding works in Australia", *The Conversation*, 7 March 2025, <a href="https://theconversation.com/underfunded-overfunded-how-school-funding-works-in-australia-251048">https://theconversation.com/underfunded-overfunded-how-school-funding-works-in-australia-251048</a>
- <sup>25</sup> Linda Graham, "Student compliance will not mean 'all teachers can teach': a critical analysis of the rationale for 'no excuses' discipline", *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22:11 (2018), 1242–1256; Lia Harris, "Police called by NSW public primary and special needs schools more than 860 times last year," *ABC News*, 14 February 2024, <a href="https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-02-15/nsw-police-public-primary-schools-special-needs/103465518">https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-02-15/nsw-police-public-primary-schools-special-needs/103465518</a>.
- <sup>26</sup> Yasmin Catley MP, "NSW Labor: \$75M for 250 new school counsellors to support students and lift outcomes", <a href="https://www.yasmincatley.com/news/media-releases/nsw-labor-75m-for-250-new-school-counsellors-to-support-students-and-lift-outcomes/">https://www.yasmincatley.com/news/media-releases/nsw-labor-75m-for-250-new-school-counsellors-to-support-students-and-lift-outcomes/</a> (accessed 10 February 2025).

- <sup>27</sup> NSW Department of Education, 2024 suspensions and expulsions (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2025), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/676022fe-cf7b-4958-a17b-8a84b473bd49/download/2024-full-year-suspensions-and-expulsions-fact-sheet.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/cst-sheet.pdf</a>; NSW Department of Education, 2024 suspensions and expulsions (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2024), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/6854f9d7-12fd-4bf4-b16d-262161f2ea25/download/full-year-2023-suspensions-and-expulsions.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/2b71f581-e36f-42c9-813a-436dbf77548d/resource/6854f9d7-12fd-4bf4-b16d-262161f2ea25/download/full-year-2023-suspensions-and-expulsions.pdf</a>.
- <sup>28</sup> NSW Department of Education, 2023 Biannual One Incident Report Summary (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2024), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/06098aa7-ef7e-40d5-b378-d39b77eb1a18/resource/ff20f87f-ee4c-43cc-b454-74a2f3d60325/download/2023-biannual-one-incident-report-summary.pdf">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/nsw-education-incident-reports Schools</a>. (Sydney: Data NSW, 2024), <a href="https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/nsw-education-incident-reports-nsw-government-schools">https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/nsw-education-incident-reports-nsw-government-schools</a>.
- <sup>29</sup> Lia Harris, "Police called by NSW public primary and special needs schools more than 860 times last year", *ABC News*, 15 February 2024, <a href="https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-02-15/nsw-police-public-primary-schools-special-needs/103465518">https://www.abc.net.au/news/2024-02-15/nsw-police-public-primary-schools-special-needs/103465518</a>.
- <sup>30</sup> Emily K. Weisburst, "Patrolling public schools: The impact of funding for school police on student discipline and long-term education outcomes", *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 38:2 (2019), 338-365; Julissa O. Muñiz, "Exclusionary discipline policies, school-police partnerships, surveillance technologies and disproportionality: A review of the school to prison pipeline literature", *The Urban Review*, 53: 5 (2021), 735-760; Natasha N. Johnson, and Thaddeus L. Johnson, "Zero tolerance policy analysis: A look at 30 years of school-based ZT policies in practice in the United States of America", *Cogent education*, 10:1 (2023).
- <sup>31</sup>Christopher A. Mallett, "The school-to-prison pipeline: A critical review of the punitive paradigm shift", *Child and adolescent social work journal*, 33 (2016), 15-24.
- <sup>32</sup> Margaret Goldman, and Nancy Rodriguez, "Juvenile court in the school-prison nexus: Youth punishment, schooling and structures of inequality", *Journal of Crime and Justice*, 45:3 (2022), 270-284; Ken McGrew, "The dangers of pipeline thinking: How the school-to-prison pipeline metaphor squeezes out complexity", *Educational Theory*, 66:3 (2016), 341-367.
- <sup>33</sup> Russell J. Skiba, Mariella I. Arredondo, and Natasha T. Williams, "More than a metaphor: The contribution of exclusionary discipline to a school-to-prison pipeline", *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 47:4 (2014), 546-564.
- <sup>34</sup> NSW Department of Education, *Student Behaviour Strategy: March 2021* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2021), <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/student-wellbeing/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/media/Student\_Behaviour\_Strategy\_March\_2021.pdf">https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/student-wellbeing/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/media/Student\_Behaviour\_Strategy\_March\_2021.pdf</a>.
- <sup>35</sup> Stephane M. Shepherd, Ben Spivak, Linda J. Ashford, Isabel Williams, Justin Trounson, and Yin Paradies, "Closing the (incarceration) gap: assessing the socio-economic and clinical indicators of indigenous males by lifetime incarceration status", *BMC public health*, 20 (2020): 1-14; Don Weatherburn and Stephanie Ramsey, *Offending over the life course: Contact with the NSW criminal justice system* (Sydney: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research, 2018), <a href="https://bocsar.nsw.gov.au/documents/publications/bb/bb101-150/bb132-report-offending-over-the-life-course.pdf">https://bocsar.nsw.gov.au/documents/publications/bb/bb101-150/bb132-report-offending-over-the-life-course.pdf</a>.

- <sup>36</sup> Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Adults in Prison (Sydney: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2023), <a href="https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/adults-in-prison">https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-welfare/adults-in-prison</a>.
- <sup>37</sup>Christopher A Mallett. "The school-to-prison pipeline: Disproportionate impact on vulnerable children and adolescents", *Education and urban society*, 49:6 (2017): 563-592.
- <sup>38</sup> Sheryl A. Hemphill, John W. Toumbourou, Rachel Smith, Garth E. Kendall, Bosco Rowland, Kate Freiberg, and Joanne W. Williams, "Are rates of school suspension higher in socially disadvantaged neighbourhoods? An Australian study", *Health promotion journal of Australia*, 21:1 (2010), 12–18; Corrinne T. Sullivan, Duy Tran, Kim Spurway, Linda Briskman, John Leha, William Trewlynn, and Karen Soldatic, "Absolutely it was not safe": Indigenous LGBTIQSB+ experiences of education in Australia", *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 53:1 (2024), 1–18.
- <sup>39</sup> Scott Avery, "We go hunting together": cultural and community inclusion as a moderator of social inequality experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with disability", PhD diss., UTS, 2019. <a href="https://opus.cloud1.lib.uts.edu.au/bitstream/10453/137099/6/02whole.pdf">https://opus.cloud1.lib.uts.edu.au/bitstream/10453/137099/6/02whole.pdf</a>
- <sup>40</sup> NSW Government, 2015 Young People in Custody Health Survey: Full report (Sydney: NSW Government, 2017), <a href="https://www.nsw.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022-05/2015\_YPiCHS\_Full\_report.pdf">https://www.nsw.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022-05/2015\_YPiCHS\_Full\_report.pdf</a>.
- <sup>41</sup> Australian Government, *National Agreement on Closing the Gap* (Canberra: Australian Government 2020), <a href="https://www.closingthegap.gov.au/national-agreement">https://www.closingthegap.gov.au/national-agreement</a>; Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, *Final Report Volume 7: Inclusive education, employment and housin0g* (Canberra: Australian Government, 2023), <a href="https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report">https://disability.royalcommission.gov.au/publications/final-report</a>.
- <sup>42</sup> New South Wales Government, *Education Act 1990 No 8*. (1990), <a href="https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/whole/html/inforce/current/act-1990-008">https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/whole/html/inforce/current/act-1990-008</a>.
- <sup>43</sup>Leanne Fray, Felicia Jaremus, Jennifer Gore, Andrew Miller, and Jess Harris. "Under pressure and overlooked: The impact of COVID-19 on teachers in NSW public schools", *The Australian Educational Researcher*, 50:3 (2023), 701-727.
- <sup>44</sup> Audit Office of New South Wales, *Supporting students with disability in NSW public schools*: *Department of education* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education Audit Office, 2016); Barry Down, Anna Sullivan, Neil Tippett, Bruce Johnson, Jamie Manolev, and Janean Robinson. 2024. "What Is Missing in Policy Discourses about School Exclusions?", *Critical Studies in Education*, 65:5 (2024), 494–512; NSW Government, *Report No 31 PC 3 Education, Students with a disability or special needs in NSW* (inquiry) (Sydney: NSW Government, 2017).
- <sup>45</sup>NSW Department of Education, *Student Behaviour Strategy: March 2021* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2021), <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/student-wellbeing/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/media/Student\_Behaviour\_Strategy\_March\_2021.pdf">https://education.nsw.gov.au/content/dam/main-education/student-wellbeing/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/media/Student\_Behaviour\_Strategy\_March\_2021.pdf</a>.
- <sup>46</sup> NSW Department of Education, *Behaviour Code for Students* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2006), <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/policy-library/policies/pd-2006-0316-06">https://education.nsw.gov.au/policy-library/policies/pd-2006-0316-06</a>.
- <sup>47</sup>NSW Department of Education, "Teacher vacancies fall to three-year low" 27 August 2024, https://education.nsw.gov.au/news/latest-news/teacher-vacancies-fall-to-three-year-low.

- <sup>48</sup> NSW Department of Education, *Behaviour Code for Students* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2006), <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/policy-library/policies/pd-2006-0316-06">https://education.nsw.gov.au/policy-library/policies/pd-2006-0316-06</a>.
- <sup>49</sup> Ernst D. Thoutenhoofd, "The mass production of learning: positive behaviour in a datafied education system", *Nordic Journal of Studies in Educational Policy*, 5:3 (2019), 153–164.
- <sup>50</sup> NSW Department of Education, *Behaviour professional learning*, <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/schooling/school-community/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/behaviour-professional-learning">https://education.nsw.gov.au/schooling/school-community/attendance-behaviour-and-engagement/behaviour-professional-learning</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- <sup>51</sup>NSW Department of Education, SSP builds, <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/about-us/efsg/design-components/ssp-builds">https://education.nsw.gov.au/about-us/efsg/design-components/ssp-builds</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- <sup>52</sup>NSW Department of Education, *Behaviour Code for Students* (Sydney: NSW Department of Education, 2006), <a href="https://education.nsw.gov.au/policy-library/policies/pd-2006-0316-06">https://education.nsw.gov.au/policy-library/policies/pd-2006-0316-06</a>.
- <sup>53</sup> Judicial Commission of New South Wales, *Children's Court (Sydney:* Judicial Commission of NSW, 2025) <a href="https://www.judcom.nsw.gov.au/publications/benchbks/local/childrens\_court.html">https://www.judcom.nsw.gov.au/publications/benchbks/local/childrens\_court.html</a>.
- <sup>54</sup> Bureau of Crime and Statistics Research NSW (BOSCAR), *NSW Custody Statistics Quarterly Update June 2025* (Sydney: BOSCAR, 2025), <a href="https://bocsar.nsw.gov.au/research-evaluations/2025/nsw-custody-statistics-quarterly-update-jun-2025.html">https://bocsar.nsw.gov.au/research-evaluations/2025/nsw-custody-statistics-quarterly-update-jun-2025.html</a>.
- <sup>55</sup>Laura Metcalfe, Cathy Little, Garner Clancey and David Evans, "The Changing Nature of Education in Youth Justice Centres in New South Wales (Australia)", *Journal of Prison Education Research*, 8:1 (2023), 1-22.
- <sup>56</sup> Justice Reform Initiative, *Alternatives to incarceration in New South Wales: Evidence, options and impacts* (Sydney: Justice Reform Initiative, 2024), <a href="https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  <a href="mailto:reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  <a href="mailto:reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  <a href="mailto:reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  <a href="mailto:reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  <a href="mailto:reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">reforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  <a href="mailto:reforminitiative/pages/">reforminiti
- <sup>57</sup> The Y NSW, "Helping Students Reconnect: The Y NSW's Alternative Suspension Program is Changing Lives," (Sydney: The Y NSW, 29 May 2025).
- <sup>58</sup> Just Reinvest NSW, Mounty Yarns: Lived Experiences of Aboriginal Young People in Mt Druitt (Sydney: Just Reinvest NSW, 2023), <a href="https://staticl.squarespace.com/static/644e27ff8602074e9b8ef945/t/64fe4341bf2ec6376e5d5db8/">https://staticl.squarespace.com/static/644e27ff8602074e9b8ef945/t/64fe4341bf2ec6376e5d5db8/</a> 1694385003181/Mounty+Yarns.pdf.
- <sup>59</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>60</sup> Fiona M. Hollands, Stephen M. Leach, Robert Shand, Laura Head, Yixin Wang, Dena Dossett, Florence Chang et al, "Restorative Practices: Using local evidence on costs and student outcomes to inform school district decisions about behavioral interventions", *Journal of School Psychology*, 92 (2022), 188–208; Frank Grimsey Jones, Lucy Jaffé, Lucy Harris, Jon Franklin, Lisa Allam, and Joanna Shapland, "An economic evaluation of restorative justice post–sentence in England and Wales", *Frontiers in Psychology*, 14 (2023).
- 61 NSW Legislative Council, First Session of the Fifty-Eighth Parliament Questions and Answers No. 56 965 Youth Justice Average Cost Per Day Custody in Youth Justice Centre, <a href="https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/lc/papers/Pages/qanda-tracking-details.aspx?pk=96220">https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/lc/papers/Pages/qanda-tracking-details.aspx?pk=96220</a> (accessed 14 April 2025).

62 Ibid.

- 63 Ernesto Lodi, Lucrezia Perrella, Gian Luigi Lepri, Maria Luisa Scarpa, and Patrizia Patrizi. 2022. "Use of Restorative Justice and Restorative Practices at School: A Systematic Literature Review" *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 19:1 (2022), 96; Hani Morgan, "Restorative Justice and the School-to-Prison Pipeline: A Review of Existing Literature", *Education Sciences*, 11:4 (2021), 159; Christopher A. Mallett, "The school-to-prison pipeline: From school punishment to rehabilitative inclusion", *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 60:4 (2016), 296-304.
- 64 Trevor Fronius, Sean Darling-Hammond, Hannah Persson, Sarah Guckenburg, Nancy Hurley, and Anthony Petrosino. "Restorative justice in US schools: An updated research review." WestEd (2019); Fiona M. Hollands, Stephen M. Leach, Robert Shand, Laura Head, Yixin Wang, Dena Dossett, Florence Chang et al, "Restorative Practices: Using local evidence on costs and student outcomes to inform school district decisions about behavioral interventions", Journal of School Psychology, 92 (2022), 188–208; Alison Ann Payne and Kelly Welch, The Effect of School Conditions on the Use of Restorative Justice in Schools. Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice, 16:2 (2017), 224–240.
- <sup>65</sup> Kaitlin P. Anderson, "Inequitable compliance: Implementation failure of a statewide student discipline reform", *Peabody Journal of Education*, 93:2 (2018), 244–263; Jason P. Nance, "Dismantling the school-to-prison pipeline: Tools for change", *Arizona State Law Journal*, 48 (2016), 313–372.
- <sup>66</sup> Berni Graham, Clarissa White, Amy Edwards, Sylvia Potter, and Cathy Street. "School exclusion: a literature review on the continued disproportionate exclusion of certain students" (London: UK Department for Education, 2019).
- <sup>67</sup> Christopher A Malette. "Police in schools: The complicated impact on students, school environments, and the juvenile courts." Juvenile and Family Court Journal 73:2 (2022): 37-49; C Na and DC Gottfredson, "Police Officers in Schools: Effects on School Crime and the Processing of Offending Behaviors", Justice Quarterly, 30:4 (2011), 619-650; Lucy C. Sorensen; Yinzhi Shen; Shawn D. Bushway, "Making Schools Safer and/or Escalating Disciplinary Response: A Study of Police Officers in North Carolina Schools", Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 43:3 (2021), 495-519.
- <sup>68</sup> Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, "Youth Detention Population in Australia 2024: The Number of Young People in Detention, <a href="https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/youth-justice/youth-detention-population-in-australia-2024/contents/summary/the-number-of-young-people-in-detention">https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/youth-justice/youth-detention-population-in-australia-2024/contents/summary/the-number-of-young-people-in-detention</a> (accessed 7 February 2025).
- <sup>69</sup> Don Weatherburn and Stephanie Ramsey, *Offending over the life course: Contact with the NSW criminal justice system* (Sydney: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research, 2018), <a href="https://bocsar.nsw.gov.au/documents/publications/bb/bb101-150/bb132-report-offending-over-the-life-course.pdf">https://bocsar.nsw.gov.au/documents/publications/bb/bb101-150/bb132-report-offending-over-the-life-course.pdf</a>
- <sup>70</sup> Author interview with CRC Pathways program Staff, Sydney, 14 February 2024.
- 71 Ibid.
- 72 Ibid.
- <sup>73</sup> See Community Restorative Centre. 2025. "About Us." Accessed 9 February, 2025. https://www.crcnsw.org.au/about-us/.
- <sup>74</sup> Author interview with CRC Pathways program Staff, Sydney, 14 February 2024.

- 75 Ibid.
- <sup>76</sup> Ruth McCausland, Rebecca Reeve, Mandy Sotiri et al. "Outcomes of a community sector model of reintegration for people with complex needs: a mixed-methods study." *Health Justice* 13(49) (2025). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-025-00352-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-025-00352-6</a>.
- <sup>77</sup> Justice Reform Initiative, *Alternatives to incarceration in New South Wales: Evidence, options and impacts* (Sydney: Justice Reform Initiative, 2024), <a href="https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215">https://assets.nationbuilder.com/justicereforminitiative/pages/337/attachments/original/171087215</a>
  7/JRI\_Alternatives\_Report\_NSW\_FULL\_49\_.pdf?1710872157.
- <sup>78</sup> Anjali Adukia, Benjamin Feigenberg, and Fatemeh Momeni, "A Restorative Approach to Student Discipline Shows Promise in Reducing Suspensions and Arrests," *Brookings Institution*, 7 February 2025, <a href="https://www.brookings.edu/articles/a-restorative-approach-to-student-discipline-shows-promise-in-reducing-suspensions-and-arrests/">https://www.brookings.edu/articles/a-restorative-approach-to-student-discipline-shows-promise-in-reducing-suspensions-and-arrests/</a>. Elaine Allensworth, Lauren Sartain, Michelle Hanh Huynh, Nick Mader, Rachel Levenstein, Shanette Porter, Shannon Guiltinan, and W. David Stevens, "Discipline Practices in Chicago Schools: Trends in the Use of Suspensions and Arrests," UChicago Consortium on School Research, March 2015, <a href="https://consortium.uchicago.edu/publications/discipline-practices-chicago-schools-trends-use-">https://consortium.uchicago.edu/publications/discipline-practices-chicago-schools-trends-use-</a>
- https://consortium.uchicago.edu/publications/discipline-practices-chicago-schools-trends-use-suspensions-and-arrests.
- <sup>79</sup> Chicago Public Schools, *Whole School Safety Plans*, <a href="https://www.cps.edu/services-and-supports/student-safety-and-security/whole-school-safety-plans/">https://www.cps.edu/services-and-supports/student-safety-and-security/whole-school-safety-plans/</a> (accessed 24 April 2025).
- 80 Matt Zalaznick, "Stricter Discipline May Be Returning to Schools After Abandonment of Zero Tolerance," *District Administration*, 11 May 2023, <a href="https://districtadministration.com/briefing/stricter-discipline-may-be-returning-to-schools-after-abandonment-of-zero-tolerance/">https://districtadministration.com/briefing/stricter-discipline-may-be-returning-to-schools-after-abandonment-of-zero-tolerance/</a>. For the most recent national policy changes in the USA, see The White House, Reinstating Common Sense School Discipline Policies, <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/04/reinstating-common-sense-school-discipline-policies/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/04/reinstating-common-sense-school-discipline-policies/</a> (accessed 14 May 2025)
- <sup>81</sup> Author interview with Alternatives Chicago representatives, 6 December 2024. See also: Alternatives, Restorative Justice, <a href="https://alternativesyouth.org/restorative-justice/">https://alternativesyouth.org/restorative-justice/</a> (accessed 14 May 2025).
- <sup>82</sup> Author interview with Alternatives Chicago representatives, 6 December 2024; see also Alternatives, Case Study: Alternatives' Restorative Justice Work at Paul Robeson High School 2014-2017 (Chicago: Dignity in Schools, 2017), <a href="https://dignityinschools.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RJ-at-Robeson-case-study.pdf">https://dignityinschools.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/RJ-at-Robeson-case-study.pdf</a>.
- <sup>83</sup> Author interview with Alternatives Chicago representatives, 6 December 2024. See also: Alternatives, Restorative Justice, <a href="https://alternativesyouth.org/restorative-justice/">https://alternativesyouth.org/restorative-justice/</a> (accessed 14 May 2025).
- 84 Ibid.
- 85 Sean Darling-Hammond, Fostering belonging, transforming schools: The impact of restorative practices (Learning Policy Institute, 2023); Ernesto Lodi, Lucrezia Perrella, Gian Luigi Lepri, Maria Luisa Scarpa, and Patrizia Patrizi. 2022. "Use of Restorative Justice and Restorative Practices at School: A Systematic Literature Review" International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 19(1) (2022) 96.

- <sup>86</sup> Gillean McCluskey Ted Cole, Harry Daniels, Ian Thompson, and Alice Tawell, "Exclusion from school in Scotland and across the UK: Contrasts and questions." *British educational research journal*, 45:6 (2019): 1140-1159.
- <sup>87</sup> Administrative Data Research UK, *Data Insight: Understanding exclusions in Scottish secondary schools*, <a href="https://www.adruk.org/news-publications/publications-reports/data-insight-understanding-exclusions-in-scottish-secondary-schools/">https://www.adruk.org/news-publications/publications-reports/data-insight-understanding-exclusions-in-scottish-secondary-schools/</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- <sup>88</sup> Independent Care Review, *The Promise*, <a href="https://www.carereview.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/The-Promise\_v7.pdf">https://www.carereview.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/The-Promise\_v7.pdf</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- 89 Scottish Government, Included, Engaged and Involved Part 2: A Positive Approach to Preventing and Managing School Exclusions, <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/included-engaged-involved-part-2-positive-approach-preventing-managing-school/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/included-engaged-involved-part-2-positive-approach-preventing-managing-school/</a> (accessed 20 April 2025). See also: Gillean McCluskey, Laura Robertson, and Annie Taylor. "School Exclusion Policy in Scotland: Investigating Policy Levers, Drivers and Warrants." Scottish Educational Review (online first) (2025): 1-24.
- <sup>90</sup> Gillean McCluskey, Gavin Duffy, Sally Power, Gareth Robinson, Alice Tawell, Annie Taylor, Michelle Templeton, and Ian Thompson. "School exclusion policies across the UK: convergence and divergence." *Oxford Review of Education*, 50:6 (2024): 760-776.
- <sup>91</sup> See for example YouthLink Scotland, *Youth Work and Schools Partnership Network*, <a href="https://www.youthlink.scot/our-networks/yw-schools-network/">https://www.youthlink.scot/our-networks/yw-schools-network/</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- 92 Author interview with Gillean McCluskey, Online, 10 December 2024.
- <sup>93</sup> Scottish Government, Scottish Advisory Group on Relationships and Behaviour in Schools (SAGRABIS): Terms of Reference, <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-advisory-group-on-relationships-and-behaviour-in-schools-sagrabis-terms-of-reference/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-advisory-group-on-relationships-and-behaviour-in-schools-sagrabis-terms-of-reference/</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- <sup>94</sup> Author interview with Gillean McCluskey, Online, 10 December 20204.
- <sup>95</sup> Author interview with Gillean McCluskey, Online, 10 December 2024. See also: Gillean McCluskey, Gavin Duffy, Sally Power, Gareth Robinson, Alice Tawell, Annie Taylor, Michelle Templeton, and Ian Thompson. "School exclusion policies across the UK: convergence and divergence." *Oxford Review of Education*, 50:6 (2024): 760-776.
- <sup>96</sup> Administrative Data Research UK, *Data Insight: Understanding exclusions in Scottish secondary schools*, <a href="https://www.adruk.org/news-publications/publications-reports/data-insight-understanding-exclusions-in-scottish-secondary-schools/">https://www.adruk.org/news-publications/publications-reports/data-insight-understanding-exclusions-in-scottish-secondary-schools/</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).
- <sup>97</sup> Annie Taylor & Gillean McCluskey. "Alternative" education provision: a mapping and critique", Oxford Review of Education, 50:6 (2024) 798–816.
- <sup>98</sup> Kanika Samuels-Wortley, Crosse, Z. Tang, E. L. Bauer, M. A. Harmon, C. A. Hagen, and A. D. Greene. "The state of school liaison programs in Canada." *Criminology & Public Policy* 19, no. 3 (2021): 905-940
- <sup>99</sup> Louis Riel School Division, An Equity-Based Review of Police Involvement in Schools: The School Resource Officer Program in the Louis Riel School Division August 2021, <a href="https://www.lrsd.net/\_ci/p/20504">https://www.lrsd.net/\_ci/p/20504</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).

- 100 Author interview with Andrea Vásquez Jiménez, Online, 21 January 2025.
- <sup>101</sup> Ibid.
- <sup>102</sup> Toronto District School Board, *Caring and Safe Schools Report 2018–2019* (Toronto: Toronto District School Board, 2020),
- https://www.tdsb.on.ca/Portals/0/docs/Caring%20and%20Safe%20Schools%20Report%202018-19%2C%20TDSB%2C%2012Feb2020%20Final.pdf.
- <sup>103</sup> Isaac Callan and Colin D'Mello, "'Significant crisis': Number of violent incidents reported in Ontario's schools grows," *Global News*, 14 August 2025, <a href="https://globalnews.ca/news/11333551/ontario-school-violence-rate-increase/">https://globalnews.ca/news/11333551/ontario-school-violence-rate-increase/</a>
- 104 See Benjamin W. Fisher, Anthony Petrosino, Hannah Sutherland, Sarah Guckenburg, Trevor Fronius, Ivan Benitez, and Kevin Earl, "School-based law enforcement strategies to reduce crime, increase perceptions of safety, and improve learning outcomes in primary and secondary schools: A systematic review", Campbell Systematic Reviews, 19:4 (2023): e1360. See also Ontario Human Rights Commission, Under Suspicion: Research and Consultation Report on Racial Profiling in Ontario (Toronto: Ontario Human Rights Commission, 2017), <a href="https://www3.ohrc.on.ca/en/under-suspicion-research-and-consultation-report-racial-profiling-ontario">https://www3.ohrc.on.ca/en/under-suspicion-research-and-consultation-report-racial-profiling-ontario</a>.
- <sup>105</sup> Just Reinvest NSW, Redefining Reinvestment: An opportunity for Aboriginal communities and government to co-design justice reinvestment in NSW (Sydney: Just Reinvest NSW, 2022).
- <sup>106</sup> U.S. Congress, H.R.2690 Ending Punitive, Unfair, School-based Harm that is Overt and Unresponsive to Trauma Act of 2023, <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/2690">https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/2690</a> (accessed 20 April 2025).



Good public policy starts with evidence.

Level 7, Castlereagh Street Sydney, NSW 2000 Australia

**E** info@appi.org.au | **w** appi.org.au

















